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ANDREA RODGERS, WSBA #38683 
Western Environmental Law Center 
3026 NW Esplanade 
Seattle, WA 98117 
Tel. 206.696.2851 
E-mail: rodgers@westernlaw.org 
 
Counsel for Plaintiff 
 
 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON 

 
FRIENDS OF TOPPENISH CREEK, a 
Washington Non-Profit Corporation, 
Plaintiff, 
     v. 
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & 
HUMAN SERVICES; THE INDIAN 
HEALTH SERVICE, 
 
Defendant.  
 

 Case No.  
 
COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
     
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT & 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT 

 
 
 
  

 

 Plaintiff, Friends of Toppenish Creek (“Friends”), hereby alleges as follows:  

INTRODUCTION 

1. This action is premised upon, and consequent to, violations of the Freedom 

of Information Act (the “FOIA”), 5 U.S.C. § 552 et seq., and the Administrative 

Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 701 et seq.   It challenges the unlawful failure 

of the Defendant, the Indian Health Service (“IHS” or “Agency”), to abide by the 
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statutory requirements of the FOIA and the APA.     

2. In particular, IHS has violated the FOIA and the APA by: (1) failing to 

provide a legally adequate determination resolving Friends’ FOIA request within 

the time limits prescribed by law; (2) failing to abide by statutory and regulatory 

procedures in responding to and processing Friends’ FOIA request; and (3) 

unlawfully withholding from public disclosure information sought by Friends, 

information to which it is entitled and for which no valid disclosure exemption 

applies. 

3. Friends seeks declaratory relief establishing that IHS has violated the FOIA 

and the APA.  Friends also seeks injunctive relief directing IHS to promptly 

provide the requested material. Finally, Friends requests that the Court award 

Plaintiff its reasonable attorneys fees and costs incurred in bringing this action.   

JURISDICTION 

4. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this lawsuit pursuant to 5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) because Friends both resides and has its principal place of 

business in White Swan, Washington which is within the Eastern District of 

Washington.    

5. The Court also has federal question jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1331 because this action arises under the FOIA, the APA, and the Declaratory 

Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201, et seq.   
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VENUE 

6. Venue properly vests in this Court pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) 

because Friends both resides and has its principal place of business in the Eastern 

District of Washington.      

PARTIES 

7. Plaintiff Friends is a non-profit 501(c)(3) corporation organized under the 

laws of the State of Washington.  Friends’ principal office is located in Toppenish, 

Washington.  

8. Friends is dedicated to protecting the rights of rural communities and 

improving oversight of industrial agriculture.  Friends operates under the simple 

principle that all people deserve clean air, clean water and protection from abuse 

that results when profit is favored over people.  Friends works through public 

education, citizen investigations, research, legislation, special events, and direct 

action.  Friends routinely disseminates the information it obtains to the community 

through a variety of means, with a focus on scientific studies, literature and data, so 

that the public is informed about the public health risks due to pollution from 

industrial agricultural operations in the Lower Yakima Valley. 

9. IHS is an agency of the executive branch of the United States government 

which is within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”).  IHS 

is in possession and control of the records sought by Friends, and as such, it is 
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subject to the FOIA pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(f).  

LEGAL FRAMEWORK 

10. The FOIA requires U.S. government agencies to promptly make public 

records available to any person who makes a request which (1) reasonably 

describes the records sought and (2) complies with any applicable agency rules for 

making such a request.  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3)(A).  

11. The FOIA obligates federal agencies to issue a final determination on any 

such information request within twenty business days from the date of its receipt.  

5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i).  In issuing a final determination, an agency is required 

to inform the requester of three things: (1) the agency’s determination of whether 

or not to comply with the request; (2) the reasons for its decision; and (3) notice of 

the right of the requester to appeal to the head of the agency.  Id. 

12. HHS regulations provide that decisions whether to release records will be 

made “within 10 working days after your request reaches the appropriate FOI 

office.”  45 C.F.R. § 5.35(b)(1). 

13. The FOIA allows an agency to extend the twenty-day determination 

deadline by up to ten business days when “unusual circumstances” exist and when 

the agency so notifies a requester in writing.  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(B).  An agency 

is entitled to one ten-business day extension.  Id.  The written notice provided to 

the requester must specify the unusual circumstances justifying the extension and 
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the date on which a final determination is expected to be dispatched.  Id.   

14. In some circumstances, the FOIA allows an agency to invoke an extension 

beyond ten days.  To invoke a longer extension, the FOIA requires an agency to 

provide written notification to the requester that (1) offers the requester an 

opportunity to limit the scope of the request so that it may be processed within the 

FOIA’s original time limits, or (2) offers the requester an opportunity to arrange 

with the agency an alternative time frame for processing the request.  5 U.S.C. § 

552(a)(6)(B)(ii).  The agency must also make available to the requester its FOIA 

public liaison, who is tasked with resolving any dispute between the requester and 

the agency.  Id.  When invoking a longer extension, an agency must still notify the 

requester of the expected date on which a final determination will be dispatched.  5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(B)(i).   

15. If an agency fails to provide a final determination on a FOIA request within 

the statutory timeframe, the requester is deemed to have exhausted its 

administrative remedies and may immediately file suit against the agency.  5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C)(i).   

16. HHS regulations also provide that, “[i]f [the agency] fails to meet the 

deadlines, you may proceed as if we had denied your request or your appeal.”  45 

C.F.R. § 5.35(a). 

17. If an agency issues some type of adverse determination on a FOIA request, 
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the requester may administratively appeal that determination in writing to the head 

of the agency.  45 C.F.R. § 5.34.  The statute and HHS regulations afford IHS 

twenty business days to make a determination on any such appeal.  5 U.S.C. 

§ 552(a)(6)(A)(ii); 45 C.F.R. § 5.35(b)(2).  

18. If an agency does not issue a determination on an administrative appeal 

within the twenty-day timeframe, then the requester is deemed to have exhausted 

its administrative remedies and may immediately file suit against the agency.  5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C)(i); 45 C.F.R. § 5.35(a). 

19. The FOIA requires federal agencies to promptly disclose all records 

responsive to a FOIA request unless one of nine statutory exemptions applies.  One 

of those exemptions allows agencies to withhold from public disclosure “inter-

agency or intra-agency memorandums or letters which would not be available by 

law to a party other than an agency in litigation with the agency.”  5 U.S.C. § 

552(b)(5).   

20. Another disclosure exemption allows agencies to withhold “personnel and 

medical files and similar files the disclosure of which would constitute a clearly 

unwarranted invasion of personal privacy.”  5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6).   

21. Even if a record is deemed by an agency to be exempt from disclosure,  

“[a]ny reasonably segregable portion of a record shall be provided to any person 

requesting such record after deletion of the portions which are exempt[.]”  5 U.S.C. 
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§ 552(b).   

FACTS 

22. On December 22, 2008, the Yakama Indian Nation requested assistance 

from the IHS regarding concerns with nitrate contamination of groundwater on the 

Yakama Indian Reservation.   

23. Sometime thereafter, one of Friends’ members discovered an IHS agency 

document dated June 1, 2009, that referenced the request by the Yakama Indian 

Nation to IHS “to develop and implement a study to determine the number of 

potentially affected existing tribal member’s wells for nitrate contamination on the 

reservation.” A copy of the June 1, 2009 document is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

24. The June 1, 2009 document states that “IHS coordinated with multiple 

Yakama Nation agencies [Tribal Water & Sewer, Water Resources, Water Code, 

and Environmental programs]” and that “the focus of the nitrate contamination 

study was the Satus Area based on previous studies that showed the area had a high 

propensity for nitrate groundwater contamination.”  Id.  The document then 

provided a summary of “previous sampling studies results,” some of which 

indicated a significant number of drinking water wells that exceeded the Nitrate 

maximum contaminant limit (“MCL”) of 10 parts per million (“ppm”).  
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25. On May 6, 2015, Friends1 submitted a FOIA Request (“Request”) to IHS for 

all “records, data, studies, reports and communications” related to the nitrate 

contamination study referenced in the June 1, 2009 document. The FOIA Request 

specifically referenced the June 1, 2009 document and attached the letter as an 

exhibit to the FOIA Request. The FOIA Request also sought all documents 

concerning nitrate contamination of drinking water on or around the Yakama 

Indian Reservation as well as documents regarding the impacts of Concentrated 

Animal Feeding Operations on and around the Yakama Indian Reservation.  Per 

instructions on the IHS website, the request was submitted via electronic mail to 

Shirina Grimaldi, IHS Area FOIA Coordinator and a copy of the original FOIA 

Request is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 

26. The FOIA Request indicated that Friends was a public interest organization 

that represents community members with a record of disseminating information for 

public safety and education.  For that reason, the Request asked for a fee waiver 

required under FOIA for public interest groups.  

27. The same day that the FOIA Request was submitted to IHS, May 6, 2015, 

Counsel for Friends received a telephone call from an IHS employee requesting a 

business address as well as the June 2, 2009 document that was inadvertently 

                                                
1 The original FOIA request was submitted on behalf of two nonprofit organizations, Friends and 
Concerned Citizens of the Yakama Indian Reservation.  Only Friends is a Plaintiff in this cause 
of action. 
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omitted as an attachment to the FOIA request. The Request was given the 

designation FOIA Case 15-090. 

28. Also the same day, counsel for Friends received an email from Eris Pinto, 

IHS Office Automation Clerk, requesting a business street address “to send [] an 

acknowledgement letter for your FOIA Case.” Counsel for Friends immediately 

responded to Mr. Pinto’s email and provided the business address along with the 

FOIA Request and the June 1, 2009 document. 

29. On June 4, 2015, the twentieth business day after the FOIA Request was 

received by IHS, Friends emailed another letter to Ms. Grimaldi, IHS Area FOIA 

Coordinator, and Mr. Pinto, informing them that Friends had not received any 

response regarding the FOIA Request since the May 6, 2015 telephone 

conversation and email exchange with Mr. Pinto. This June 4, 2015 letter is 

attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 

30. The June 4, 2015 letter informed IHS that the agency had failed to comply 

with the 20-day FOIA response deadline set by statute and the 10-day 

determination deadline established by HHS regulations.  In the letter, Friends 

requested a timely determination on their FOIA request within five business days.   

31. Mr. Pinto sent an email on June 4, 2015 stating, “[p]ardon for the wait I am 

sending over the acknowledgement letter right away.” 

32. On or about June 8, 2015, Friends’ counsel received an “interim response” 
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letter postmarked June 5, 2015, but dated May 6, 2015, acknowledging the receipt 

of the Request.  The Acknowledgment Letter was sent by Janet Ingersoll (IHS 

FOIA Officer, Division of Regulatory & Legal Affairs) and informed Friends that 

they had been categorized as a “Commercial Use Requester” and would be charged 

for duplication, editing, search time, and review. The letter did not state the reasons 

supporting their decision to categorize Friends as a commercial use requester nor 

did it contain a substantive response to Friends’ FOIA Request.  A copy of the 

acknowledgement letter is attached as Exhibit 4. 

33. That acknowledgment letter did not indicate whether the requested 

documents would be released to Friends, the reasons for the decision, or whether 

Friends had a right to appeal the determination that Friends was categorized as a 

commercial use requester. 

34. On June 11, 2015, twenty-four business days after the original FOIA 

Request was received by IHS, Friends’ counsel filed an administrative appeal via 

electronic mail and certified mail, return receipt requested, challenging IHS’ 

decision to categorize Friends as a Commercial Use Requester.  Even though IHS 

never said as much, Friends interpreted this designation as a denial of their request 

for a fee waiver that was included in the original FOIA Request.  The 

administrative appeal letter reiterated the factual and legal reasons Friends 

qualifies for a fee waiver under FOIA. The letter demanded an actual, substantive 
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determination for the FOIA request within five days. The June 11, 2015 

Administrative Appeal is attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 

35.  In a letter dated June 15, 2015, postmarked June 16, and received sometime 

thereafter, Carl Mitchell, Acting Director, Division of Regulatory Affairs & Acting 

FOIA Officer, provided the agency’s first substantive response to the FOIA 

Request. Mr. Mitchell stated that IHS was providing “some of the records that you 

have requested” and that processing fees had been waived.  The letter stated that 

“[s]ome information has been withheld, as required by the Department’s 

Regulations, because release of this information would allow insight into this 

Agency’s deliberative process.  Finally, any information that would be an invasion 

of the personal privacy of others (names, addresses) is also being removed.  As 

such, this information is withheld based upon the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 552(b), (5) 

and (6), and the Department’s implementing Freedom of Information Act 

Regulations.  45 C.F.R. §§ 5.66, and 5.67.”  A copy of the June 15, 2015 letter is 

attached hereto as Exhibit 6. 

36. The June 15, 2105 letter did not describe the documents that were being 

claimed as exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(b) (5) and (6), nor 

did it provide any reasonably segregable or redacted portions of the withheld 

records, as the FOIA requires. 5 U.S.C. § 552(b).  The letter did not contain a 

response to Friends’ administrative appeal of the fee waiver constructive denial, 
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but stated “[f]ees for processing your request are minimal and they have been 

waived.  However, you may be charged for future requests.” 

37. The documents provided with the June 15, 2015 letter included: (1) an 

Engineering Report for project PO-08-B04A, which appears to be unrelated to 

Friends’ FOIA request; (2) an unsigned letter from the Yakima Indian health 

Service to an individual whose name was redacted under “exemption 6” regarding 

a well water sample that was analyzed for total nitrates; (3) a U.S. EPA Consumer 

Factsheet on: Nitrates/Nitrites; and (4) several pages of “nitrate test results,” with 

names and addresses redacted pursuant to exemption six.  No further responsive 

information was provided. 

38. The June 15, 2015 letter informed Friends that they have a right to appeal 

the decision and “apologize[d] for the delay in responding to your request.” 

39. On June 23, 2015, Friends’ counsel contacted Sandra Maclin (IHS FOIA 

Officer) by telephone regarding the FOIA Request and IHS’ failure to produce the 

requested documents in a timely manner.  After a brief telephone conversation, Ms. 

Maclin said that she would call Friends’ counsel back with more information 

regarding the FOIA Request. 

40. After not receiving a call back from Ms. Maclin, Friends’ counsel again 

contacted Ms. Maclin by telephone on July 8, 2015.  Ms. Maclin stated IHS would 

be releasing more documents, but was unsure if they had already been sent. In the 
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telephone conversation, Ms. Maclin cited the deliberative process exception under 

5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(5), but was unable to explain how the exception applied to the 

documents that were requested but withheld. Ms. Maclin stated she believed that 

the documents requested and withheld were shown to agency leadership, which 

somehow implicated the deliberative process exemption, but she was unable to 

explain why the scientific information and data requested would be subject to this 

exemption. At the end of the conversation, Ms. Maclin stated that more documents 

would be released at an unspecified date. 

41. In a letter dated July 22, 2015, but not received until several days thereafter, 

Mr. Mitchell sent a “second response” to Friends containing additional documents. 

The July 22, 2015 letter stated that “[a]fter further review, we are sending 

additional records that you have requested.” The letter did not identify which FOIA 

exemption applied, instead stating “[a]lthough the requested information is exempt 

from disclosure under the FOIA, we are exercising our discretion to release the 

information.” The letter again stated that the fees were minimal and were waived, 

but that Friends “may be charged for future requests.”  A copy of the July 22, 2015 

letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 7. 

42. The documents produced along with the July 22, 2015 letter did not include 

all of the documents requested in the original FOIA Request. In fact, the 

documents produced indicated that there were indeed several other related 
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documents that were being withheld from Friends, for no apparent reason. For 

example, one of the documents produced stated that “[t]he Yakama Field Office 

(YFO) has been conducting screening of total nitrates in drink [sic] water wells 

since the Yakama Nation requested help in a letter addressed to CDR Patrick 

Craney, December 22, 2008.”  To date, no documents (including studies, data, 

correspondence, etc.) relating to these screening efforts have been produced, even 

though they were explicitly requested in the original FOIA Request. 

43. The July 22, 2015 letter did not inform Friends what documents were being 

claimed as exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(b), nor did it 

provide any reasonably segregable or redacted portions of the withheld records, as 

the FOIA requires. 5 U.S.C. § 552(b). 

44. Because it was unclear from the July 22, 2015 letter whether IHS had denied 

Friends’ FOIA Request and if so, for what reason the denial was made, Friends’ 

counsel sent another letter dated August 7, 2015 via electronic mail and certified 

mail, return receipt requested.  

45. In the August 7, 2015 letter, Friends informed IHS that “there are several 

documents that [Friends] requested that have not been provided . . . .”  The letter 

identified documents previously produced that showed IHS had not released the all 

of the information.  The letter also stated that the decision to deny access to 

withheld documents was not supported by reasons or explanations, thereby 
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rendering it difficult to file an administrative appeal. Finally, the letter reiterated 

the documents that were requested as part of the original FOIA Request. A copy of 

the August 7, 2015 letter is attached hereby as Exhibit 8.   

46. After receiving Friends’ August 7, 2015 letter, FOIA Officer Ms. Ingersoll 

telephoned counsel for Friends and left a voicemail message on August 14, 2015.  

47. In a telephone conversation on August 17, 2015, Ms. Ingersoll referenced 

FOIA exceptions under 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(5) and (6) that were listed in earlier 

correspondence by IHS, but could not explain if and how they applied to the 

documents that were requested.  Ms. Ingersoll stated that the documents requested 

were in the regional office, that she would refer the matter to their attorney, and 

that either she or someone else at IHS would be getting back to Friends’ Counsel 

regarding the FOIA Request. 

48. After reasonably relying upon Ms. Ingersoll’s statement that IHS would be 

following up with additional information regarding the FOIA Request, Friends’ 

Council waited to see if more information was forthcoming. However, it became 

apparent that IHS would not be providing additional information or rendering a 

final determination on the FOIA Request. 

49. For that reason, Friends filed another administrative appeal on September 7, 

2015, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 9. 

50. Because IHS had refused to release the requested documents, gave no 
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apparent reason for the denial, failed to identify which documents IHS was 

withholding, and failed to follow through with additional information as promised, 

Friends came to interpret IHS’ inaction as a constructive denial of their FOIA 

Request.  

51. The September 7, 2015 letter stated that Friends did not dispute the need to 

redact names and addresses under 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6). However, Friends 

disagreed that this exception justified a wholesale denial of entire categories of 

documents that were withheld. 

52. This letter emphasized that Friends were seeking “factual, investigative 

materials” that would not be exempt from release under 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(5). 

Furthermore, the nature of the requested material (factual information regarding 

scientific data collected by or on behalf of IHS) did not involve deliberative 

documents. If there were deliberative documents involved in the request, those 

documents could have been redacted or reasonably segregated. 

53. Friends requested an index describing what documents were withheld and 

the reasons why withholding was appropriate under the FOIA and HHS 

Regulations.  

54. On September 8, 2015, counsel for Friends received an email from Ms. 

Grimaldi saying, “I have received your appeal and have forwarded it to the IHS 

FOIA office for their response.”  The same day, counsel for Friends received 
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another email from Ms. Ingersoll who stated that the Program Support Center “will 

respond to [the] status of your appeal.  Once you appeal and send it to PSC it is out 

of our hands and to another agency, PSC.” 

55. Since the filing of the administrative appeal, IHS has not made contact with 

Friends or made a determination under the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A). 

56. IHS has not released the records that were requested as part of the original 

FOIA Request. 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT I 

FAILURE TO PROVIDE TIMELY & LEGALLY ADEQUATE 
DETERMINATION ON FOIA REQUEST 

 
57. The allegations made in all preceding paragraphs are realleged and 

incorporated by reference herein. 

58. Friends has a statutory right to have IHS process its FOIA requests in a 

manner which complies with the FOIA.  Plaintiff’s rights in this regard were 

violated when IHS unlawfully delayed informing Friends of its final determination 

on its FOIA beyond the twenty-day determination deadline imposed by the FOIA.  

5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i).   

59. In issuing a determination under the FOIA, IHS was required to inform 

Friends of three things: (1) the Agency’s determination of whether or not it intends 

to fulfill with the Request; (2) the reasons for its decision; and (3) notice of the 
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right of Friends to appeal the Agency’s decision.  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i). 

60. Under FOIA, the twenty-day determination deadline for the FOIA Request 

was June 4, 2015.   

61. Under HHS Regulations, the ten-day determination deadline for the FOIA 

Request was May 20, 2015. 

62. IHS did not provide Friends with a determination on its FOIA Request by 

either date. 

63. IHS’ June 15 and July 22, 2015 letters also did not provide Friends with a 

determination resolving the FOIA Request as required by 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A).   

64. To date, Friends has not received a timely or legally adequate determination 

resolving its FOIA Request under the FOIA.   

65. Based on the nature of Friends’ organizational activities, Friends will 

continue to employ the FOIA’s provisions in information requests to IHS in the 

foreseeable future.  These activities will be adversely affected if IHS is allowed to 

continue violating FOIA’s response deadlines.    

66. Unless enjoined and made subject to a declaration of Plaintiff’s legal rights 

by this Court, IHS will continue to violate the rights of Plaintiff to receive public 

records under the FOIA. 

67. IHS’ failure to make a final determination on Friends’ FOIA Request within 

the statutory timeframe has prejudiced Plaintiff’s ability to timely obtain public 
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records.   

68. IHS’ failure to issue a timely and legally adequate determination on Friends’ 

FOIA Request within the statutory timeframe means that Friends has actually and 

constructively exhausted its administrative remedies.  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C)(i).   

COUNT II 

UNLAWFUL WITHHOLDING OF RECORDS RESPONSIVE TO THE 
FOIA REQUEST UNDER 5 U.S.C. § 552(B)(5) & (6) 

 
69. The allegations made in all preceding paragraphs are realleged and 

incorporated by reference herein. 

70. Friends has a statutory right to have IHS process its FOIA request in a 

manner that complies with the FOIA.  Friends’ rights in this regard were violated 

when IHS withheld records responsive to its FOIA Request as being exempt from 

disclosure under 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(5) and (6).  

71. The FOIA requires federal agencies to promptly disclose all records 

responsive to a FOIA request unless one of nine statutory exemptions applies.  

These nine exemptions are narrowly construed, and it is the Agency’s burden to 

show that they are properly applied to the withheld records.   

72. One of the FOIA’s exemptions allows agencies to withhold from disclosure 

“inter-agency or intra-agency memorandums or letters which would not be 

available by law to a party other than an agency in litigation with the agency.”  5 

U.S.C. § 552(b)(5).  Another FOIA exemption allows agencies to withhold from 
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disclosure “personnel and medical files and similar files the disclosure of which 

would constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of personal privacy.”  5 U.S.C. 

§ 552(b)(6) 

73. IHS withheld an unknown and unidentified number of documents responsive 

to the FOIA Request under 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(5) and (6).  

74. IHS’ withholding of responsive records under 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(5) and (6) 

was unlawful. 

75. Friends sought clarification to IHS’ statement that the deliberative process 

and personal privacy exemptions applied and also was forced to file an 

administrative appeal with IHS on this issue. 

76. IHS received Friends’ second administrative appeal on September 7, 2015. 

77. Under the FOIA, IHS had twenty business days to resolve Friends’ appeal.   

78. IHS’ deadline for resolving Friends’ appeal was October 5, 2015. 

79. IHS did not resolve Friends’ appeal on or before October 5, 2015 and to date 

has never responded to Friends’ appeal.   

80. Under the FOIA, Friends has constructively exhausted its administrative 

remedies consequent to IHS’ failure to resolve Friends’ administrative appeal 

within the twenty-day deadline.  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(B)(ii).    

81. Based on the nature of Friends’ organizational activities, Friends will 

continue to employ the FOIA’s provisions in information requests to IHS in the 
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foreseeable future.  These activities will be adversely affected if IHS is allowed to 

continue violating the FOIA’s disclosure exemptions.    

82. Unless enjoined and made subject to a declaration of Plaintiff’s legal rights 

by this Court, IHS will continue to violate the rights of Plaintiff to receive public 

records under the FOIA 

COUNT III 
VIOLATION OF THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT:  

DECISION DEADLINE VIOLATION 
 

83. The allegations made in all preceding paragraphs are realleged and 

incorporated by reference herein. 

84. Plaintiff has a statutory right to have IHS process its FOIA appeal in 

compliance with FOIA. Plaintiff’s rights in this regard were violated when IHS 

unlawfully failed to respond to Plaintiff’s administrative appeals within the 

determination deadline imposed by the FOIA. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(ii). 

85.  Based on the nature of Friends’ organizational activities, Friends will 

continue to employ the FOIA’s provisions in information requests to IHS in the 

foreseeable future.  These activities will be adversely affected if IHS is allowed to 

continue violating the FOIA’s response deadlines as it has in this case.    

86. Unless enjoined and made subject to a declaration of Plaintiff’s legal rights 

by this Court, IHS will continue to violate the rights of Plaintiff to receive public 

records under the FOIA. 
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COUNT IV 
 

VIOLATIONS OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT 
 

87. The allegations made in all preceding paragraphs are realleged and 

incorporated by reference herein. 

88. IHS has failed to act in an official capacity under color of legal authority by 

violating the requirements of the FOIA.  In particular, IHS: (1) failed to issue a 

timely final determination on the FOIA Request; (2) failed to abide by statutory 

and regulatory procedures in responding to and processing Friends’ Requests; (3) 

and unlawfully withheld records responsive to the FOIA Request under 

Exemptions 5 and 6 of the FOIA.  

89. IHS has unlawfully withheld agency action by failing to comply with the 

mandates of FOIA consequent to its failure and refusal to issue a timely final 

determination on the FOIA Request, failure to abide by statutory and regulatory 

procedures in responding to and processing Friends’ Request, and unlawful 

withholding of records responsive to the FOIA Request under Exemptions 5 and 6 

of the FOIA. 

90. Friends has been adversely affected and aggrieved by IHS’ failure to comply 

with the mandates of the FOIA and the APA.  IHS’ failures have injured Plaintiff’s 

interests in public oversight of governmental operations and constitute a violation 

of Defendant’s statutory duties under the APA. 
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91. Friends has suffered a legal wrong as a result of IHS’ failure to comply with 

the mandates of the FOIA.  IHS’ failures have injured Plaintiff’s interests in public 

oversight of governmental operations and constitute a violation of Defendant’s 

statutory duties under the APA. 

92. IHS’ failure and refusal to issue a timely final determination on the FOIA 

Request, failure to abide by statutory and regulatory procedures in responding to 

and processing Friends’ Request, and unlawful withholding of records responsive 

to the FOIA Request under Exemptions 5 and 6 of the FOIA constitutes agency 

action unlawfully withheld and unreasonably delayed and is therefore actionable 

pursuant to the APA. 5 U.S.C. § 706(1). 

93. Alternatively, IHS’ failure and refusal to issue a timely final determination 

on the FOIA Request, failure to abide by statutory and regulatory procedures in 

responding to and processing Friends’ Requests, and unlawful withholding of 

records responsive to the FOIA Request are in violation of the FOIA’s statutory 

mandates and are therefore arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion and not 

in accordance with law and are therefore actionable pursuant to the APA, 5 U.S.C. 

§ 706(2). 

94. Friends is entitled to judicial review under the Administrative Procedure Act 

5 U.S.C. §§ 702, 706. 

95. Friends is entitled to costs of disbursements and costs of litigation, including 

Case 1:16-cv-03013-SAB    Document 1    Filed 01/26/16



 

COMPLAINT   24 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

 

reasonable attorney and expert witness fees, under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 

28 U.S.C. § 2412. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that this Court: 

1.  Order IHS to promptly provide Friends all of the information sought 

in this action and to immediately disclose the requested documents. 

2.  Declare IHS’ failure to make a timely and legally adequate 

determination on the FOIA Request to be unlawful under the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 

552(a)(6)(A)(i), agency action unlawfully withheld and unreasonably delayed, 5 

U.S.C. § 706(1), and/or agency action that is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of 

discretion, and not in accordance with law, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2). 

3.  Declare Defendant’s failure to make a timely determination on 

Plaintiff’s administrative appeal to be unlawful under FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 

552(a)(6)(A)(ii);  

4.  Declare IHS’ failure to abide by statutory and regulatory procedures 

in responding to and processing Friends’ FOIA Request to be unlawful under the 

FOIA, agency action unlawfully withheld and unreasonably delayed, 5 U.S.C. § 

706(1), and/or agency action that is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, 

and not in accordance with law, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2). 

5.  Declare IHS’ withholding of records responsive to the FOIA Request 
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to be unlawful under 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(A), agency action unlawfully withheld 

and unreasonably delayed, 5 U.S.C. § 706(1), and/or agency action that is 

arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, and not in accordance with law, 5 

U.S.C. § 706(2).  

6.  Award Friends its reasonable attorneys fees and costs pursuant to 5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E) and/or 28 U.S.C. § 2412. 

7.  Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and 

proper. 

Respectfully submitted this 26th day of January, 2016. 

s/ Andrea K. Rodgers  
ANDREA K. RODGERS  
WSBA #38683 
Western Environmental Law Center 
3026 NW Esplanade 
Seattle, WA 98117 
Tel. 206.696.2851 
E-mail: rodgers@westernlaw.org 
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Via Electronic Mail 
 
May 6, 2015 
 
Shirina Grimaldi 
Indian Health Service 
Area FOIA Coordinator 
T: (503) 414-7747 
Email: shirina.grimaldi@ihs.gov 
 
Re: FOIA Request On Behalf of Concerned Citizens of the Yakama Reservation & Friends of 

Toppenish Creek 
 
Dear Shirina, 
 
This is a request under the Freedom of Information Act.  5 U.S.C § 552 et. seq.  I am making this 
request on behalf of the Concerned Citizens of the Yakama Reservation and the Friends of 
Toppenish Creek.  We hereby request that you provide copies of the following materials: 
 

1. All records, data, studies, reports and communications— in any format1 — generated or 
received by the Indian Health Service (“IHS”) regarding or resulting from the nitrate 
contamination study undertaken by IHS in coordination with the Yakama Nation.  For ease 
of reference, the nitrate contamination study is referenced in the attached Letter from the 
Department of Health and Human Services to the Yakama Nation Natural Resources 
Program dated June 1, 2009 (Exhibit 1). 

 
2. All records data, studies, reports and communications — in any format — generated or 

received by the IHS regarding nitrate contamination of drinking water on or around the 
Yakama Indian Reservation. 

 
3. All records data, studies, reports and communications — in any format — generated or 

received by IHS regarding the impacts of Concentrated Animal Feeding Operations, 
Industrial Agricultural Operations, or Dairies on public health, groundwater, drinking water, 
surface water, and/or wetlands, on and around the Yakama Indian Reservation.   

 

                                                
1"This includes, but is not limited to, printed or written correspondence, books, papers, photographs, text messages, 
email or other machine readable electronic record, telephone messages, voice-mails or other sound recordings, notes of 
personal conferences, telephone conversations or personal meetings.  It also includes electronic copies or backups if the 
originals have been destroyed.  This definition of communications applies to all documents sought by this letter."
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4. All records data, studies, reports and communications — in any format — generated or 
received by IHS regarding drinking water wells (including well location, depth, etc.) that were 
drilled for Yakama Tribal members because of contamination that was detected by any 
entity.  Included in this request are documents regarding any reverse osmosis or other kinds 
of water purification systems provided to Yakama Nation tribal members because of 
drinking water well contamination. 

 
The purpose of this request is to be considered broadly and not exclude any other records that have 
a reasonable relationship to the subject matter of this request unless we have specifically stated the 
record to be excluded.  If you or your office has destroyed or determines to withhold any 
documents that could be reasonably construed to be responsive to this request, I ask that you 
indicate this fact and the reasons therefore in your response. 
 

FEE WAIVER REQUEST 
 

Additionally, I request that you waive all copy, clerical and other fees associated with providing 
information responsive to this request.  The FOIA requires the federal government to furnish 
documents to public interest groups free of charge, or at a reduced rate, “if disclosure of the 
information is in the public interest.”  5 U.S.C. § 552(a) (4) (A) (iii).  Such disclosure is in the public 
interest if “it is likely to contribute significantly to public understanding of the operations or 
activities of the government and is not primarily in the commercial interest of the requester.”  Id.  
The public interest test is not intended to be a difficult one to satisfy, as the Ninth Circuit has held a 
requester meets this burden in situations in which “They identified why they wanted the [requested 
information], what they intended to do with it, to whom they planned on distributing it. . .”  Friends 
of the Coast Fork v. BLM, 110 F.3d 53, 55 (9th Cir.1997). 
 
The Concerned Citizens of the Yakima Reservation (CCYR) is an organization made up of life-long 
residents in the little town of Harrah, WA, (600 people) on the Yakama Indian Reservation, located 
partially in Yakima County, Washington State.  Ten years ago, the community started noticing large 
amounts of flies in and near their homes, not only in the summer but into the winter months as well. 
The stench from CAFOs entered their homes, destroying their hope of enjoying a healthy life. 
Contaminated wells were found along with people having frequent, diarrhea, head colds, sinus 
problems, and in some cases asthma. Bovine e-coli was found in an air filter of a house.  The CCYR 
was formed to educate the public about the dangers of CAFOs not only in Yakima County and on 
the Yakama Indian Reservation, but across the nation.  
 
CCYR’s mission is to protect and preserve the waters of the Yakama Indian Reservation and the 
public health of tribal members by monitoring, cleaning up and preventing pollutants from entering 
its surface and ground waters. To accomplish its mission, CCYR actively monitors industrial 
agricultural activities on and around the Yakama Indian Reservation.  As a major environmental 
stakeholder, CCYR actively engages government agencies and businesses working to regulate 
pollution discharges from industrial agricultural operations. CCYR disseminates messages about 
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pollution prevention, current pollution issues and opportunities for citizen advocacy via their multi-
faceted communication tools.  These tools include providing information to government decision 
makers, undertaking various campaigns on important issues affecting water quality on the Yakama 
Indian Reservation, conducting frequent outreach to the news and popular media, and circulating 
newsletters to supporters, as well as various public workshops.  CCYR has the ability to thereby 
inform and mobilize a public dialogue relating to issues of importance to their members and relevant 
to their organizational goals. CCYR is actively engaged in the public dialogue currently underway 
relating to discharges from agricultural operations and the public health impacts of drinking water 
contaminated with nitrates. CCYR has no financial interest in the requested information. 
 
The Friends of Toppenish Creek (FOTC) is a 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization dedicated to 
protecting the rights of rural communities and improving oversight of industrial agriculture.  FOTC 
operates under the simple principle that all people deserve clean air, clean water and protection from 
abuse that results when profit is favored over people.  FOTC works through public education, 
citizen investigations, research, legislation, special events, and direct action.  FOTC routinely 
disseminates the information it obtains to the community through a variety of means, with a focus 
on scientific studies, literature and data, so that the public is informed about the public health risks 
due to pollution from industrial agricultural operations in the Lower Yakima Valley.  FOTC has no 
financial interest in the requested information. 
 

CONCLUSION 
 
Since none of the statutory exceptions from the FOIA’s mandatory disclosure provisions apply, 
access to the requested records should be granted within twenty (20) working days from the date of 
your receipt of this request.  If this request is denied in whole or in part, I ask that you justify the 
denial with reference to specific exemptions in the Act and that you release any material that can be 
segregated or otherwise exempt material.  I further request that you describe the deleted material in 
detail.  Please separately state your reasons for not invoking your discretionary powers to release the 
requested documents in the public interest.  Such statements will be helpful in deciding whether to 
appeal an adverse determination and in formulating arguments in the event an appeal is taken. 
 
I thank you in advance for your prompt reply.  Please do not hesitate to contact me should you have 
any questions, concerns or comments regarding this request.  You may direct all communications 
and responses relating to this request directly to me.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
s/ Andrea K. Rodgers 
 
Andrea K. Rodgers  
On Behalf of CCYR & FOTC 
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Via Electronic Mail 
 
June 4, 2015 
 
Shirina Grimaldi 
Indian Health Service 
Area FOIA Coordinator 
T: (503) 414-7747 
Email: shirina.grimaldi@ihs.gov 
 
Re: FOIA Request On Behalf of Concerned Citizens of the Yakama Reservation & Friends of 

Toppenish Creek 
 
Dear Shirina, 
 
 This letter concerns a FOIA request that I submitted on behalf of Friends of Toppenish 
Creek and Concerned Citizens of the Yakama Reservation that was received by your agency on May 
6, 2015.  The same day, I received an email from Eris Pinto asking for my business address so he 
could send me an acknowledgment letter.  I responded to Mr. Pinto the same day, providing my 
address.  Also on May 6, I also had another telephone call with a different Indian Health Service 
employee requesting the attachment that I omitted to send with my original request, which I 
subsequently provided to Mr. Pinto and the other employee I spoke with on the telephone.  I have 
received no further communications from your agency regarding this request. 
 
 The FOIA requires your office to respond to a FOIA request within twenty business days 
from the date of receipt of such a request.  In addition, the HHS FOIA regulations state that 
decisions whether to release records will me made “within 10 working days after your request 
reaches the appropriate FOI office.”  45 C.F.R. § 5.35(b)(1).  Both deadlines have now passed 
without any substantive acknowledgement or response from your office.  I am notifying you that my 
clients are not at this time exercising their legal option under the FOIA to file suit to compel 
compliance with the time limits of the FOIA.  The information that we have requested relates 
directly to the immediate public health threat that Yakama reservation residents are facing due to 
nitrate-contaminated drinking water and thus time is of the essence in responding to this request.   
 

Please be advised that we will file a lawsuit against the Indian Health Service in Federal 
District Court for failure to provide a timely determination on this FOIA request unless this office 
receives an actual determination within five business days of today’s date.  We await your decision. 
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Sincerely, 
 
s/ Andrea K. Rodgers 
 
Andrea K. Rodgers  
On Behalf of CCYR & FOTC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cc: Clients 
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Via Electronic Mail & Certified Mail Return Receipt Requested 
 
August 7, 2015 
 
Shirina Grimaldi     Janet Ingersoll, IHS 
Indian Health Service     Freedom of Information Officer 
Area FOIA Coordinator    Division of Regulatory & Legal Affairs, OMS 
T: (503) 414-7747     801 Thompson Ave. (TMP 450) 
Email: shirina.grimaldi@ihs.gov   Rockville, MD 20852 
 
Sandra Maclin      Carl G. Mitchell 
T: (301) 443-116     Acting Director 
       Division of Regulatory Affairs & Acting 
       FOIA Officer 
 
Re: FOIA Request On Behalf of Concerned Citizens of the Yakama Reservation & Friends of 

Toppenish Creek, FOIA Case No. 15-090 
 
Dear Mr. Mitchell, 
 
 This letter concerns a FOIA request that I submitted on behalf of Friends of Toppenish 
Creek and Concerned Citizens of the Yakama Reservation that was received by your agency on May 
6, 2015.  After two telephone conversations with Ms. Sandra Maclin regarding our FOIA request, we 
received additional documents from your office in a letter dated July 22, 2015.  Thank you for the 
additional responsive documents, but there are several documents that we requested that have not 
been provided to us.  In addition, in the letter it says that a decision has been made to deny us full 
access to the records, but there is no indication why that is the case.  Pursuant to FOIA and your 
FOIA regulations, you have a legal obligation to inform us of what documents you are denying us 
access to and what exemption justifies your denial of the documents.  Please provide us with that 
information so that we can pursue an appeal if appropriate. 
 
 If you review our original FOIA requested dated May 6, 2015, we requested the following 
documents: 
 

1.  All records, data, studies, reports and communications— in any format1 — generated or 
received by the Indian Health Service (“IHS”) regarding or resulting from the nitrate 

                                                
1"This includes, but is not limited to, printed or written correspondence, books, papers, photographs, text messages, 
email or other machine readable electronic record, telephone messages, voice-mails or other sound recordings, notes of 
personal conferences, telephone conversations or personal meetings.  It also includes electronic copies or backups if the 
originals have been destroyed.  This definition of communications applies to all documents sought by this letter."
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contamination study undertaken by IHS in coordination with the Yakama Nation.  For ease 
of reference, the nitrate contamination study is referenced in the attached Letter from the 
Department of Health and Human Services to the Yakama Nation Natural Resources 
Program dated June 1, 2009 (Exhibit 1). 

 
2. All records data, studies, reports and communications — in any format — generated or 

received by the IHS regarding nitrate contamination of drinking water on or around the 
Yakama Indian Reservation. 

 
3. All records data, studies, reports and communications — in any format — generated or 

received by IHS regarding the impacts of Concentrated Animal Feeding Operations, 
Industrial Agricultural Operations, or Dairies on public health, groundwater, drinking water, 
surface water, and/or wetlands, on and around the Yakama Indian Reservation.   

 
4. All records data, studies, reports and communications — in any format — generated or 

received by IHS regarding drinking water wells (including well location, depth, etc.) that were 
drilled for Yakama Tribal members because of contamination that was detected by any 
entity.  Included in this request are documents regarding any reverse osmosis or other kinds 
of water purification systems provided to Yakama Nation tribal members because of 
drinking water well contamination. 

 
To date, you have not provided us with any correspondence whatsoever.  Specifically, we would like 
emails, text messages, and records of telephone conversations that fall within the scope of our 
original request.  This includes all emails regarding the aforementioned nitrate studies on the 
Yakama Indian Reservation received by or written by Shawn Blackshear, in addition to all other 
Indian Health Service employees regarding this topic.  In addition, we would like a copy of the 
December 22, 2008 letter from the Yakama Nation to CDR Patrick Craney that is specifically 
referenced in the documents that you just provided to us. 
 
 In the documents that you provided, it indicates that the Yakima Field Office has been 
screening total nitrates in drinking water wells on the Yakama Indian Reservation since December 
22, 2008. It is hard to believe that there are no emails or other forms of correspondence regarding 
that testing that has been happening for seven years.  Please produce that information immediately.  
In addition, one of the documents you provided to us indicates that there is a Summary and 
Outcome of the Special Project Plan dated February 2009 that can be obtained from the Sanitation, 
Facilities and Construction Division.  Please produce a copy of this document as it falls within the 
scope of our original request. 
 
 In one of the documents that you provided, it describes the protocol that is used when a lab 
test confirms nitrates at or above 10 mg/L.  The document also indicates that this occurred at only 
one of the 32 wells tested.  If that is correct, please provide all documents regarding this test, which 
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would include the letter to the well owner communicating the screening results and documentation 
regarding the site visit, etc. 
 
 Finally, I ask that you again review the Indian Health Service document that we attached to 
our original FOIA request as it describes documents that you have still not provided to us.  
Specifically, the December 22, 2008 letter from the Yakama Nation requesting “Indian Health 
Service assistance in addressing concerns with nitrate contamination in groundwater.”  This letter is 
within the scope of our original request and should be produced immediately.  The letter also states 
“IHS was to develop and implement a study to determine the number of potentially affected existing 
tribal member’s wells for nitrate contamination on the reservation.”  Did IHS do this study or not? 
Please produce all documents about this study, its development, etc.  The letter states that “IHS 
coordinated with multiple Yakama Nation agencies [Trial Water & Sewer, Water Resources, Water 
Code, and Environmental Programs.]”  Please provide all documents, including correspondence 
regarding this coordination.  The letter references “previous studies that showed the [Satus] area had 
a high propensity for nitrate groundwater contamination.”  Please produce those studies that are 
referenced. 
 
 We submitted our original FOIA request to you on May 6, 2015.  It is now nearly three 
months later and you still have not produced the documents that we have requested, nor have you 
provided us with any justification for this illegal delay or withholding of documents that we are 
entitled to pursuant to the FOIA.  I ask that you produce the documents that we have requested and 
specifically identified in this letter within 5 business days or we will commence litigation against you 
in federal district court for your repeated violations of the FOIA and FOIA implementing 
regulations. 
 

Please let me know if you have any questions and we look forward to your response. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
s/ Andrea K. Rodgers 
 
Andrea K. Rodgers  
On Behalf of CCYR & FOTC 
Western Environmental Law Center 
3026 NW Esplanade 
Seattle, WA 98117 
T: (206) 696-2851 
Email: rodgers@westernlaw.org 
 
cc: Clients 
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Via Electronic Mail & Certified Mail Return Receipt Requested 
 
September 7, 2015 
 
Deputy Agency Chief FOIA Officer 
Office of the Assistant Secretary for Public Affairs 
U.S. Department of Health & Human Services 
Parklawn Bldg. RM 19-01 
5600 Fishers Lane 
Rockville, MD 20857 
 
Re: Second Administrative FOIA APPEAL, FOIA Case No. 15-090 
 
Dear Deputy Agency Chief, 
 
 This letter constitutes a second administrative appeal of the Indian Health Service’s (“IHS’”) 
constructive denial of a FOIA request that I submitted on behalf of Friends of Toppenish Creek 
and Concerned Citizens of the Yakama Reservation that was received by your agency on May 6, 
2015.  We are labeling this letter a FOIA Appeal even though IHS has not yet issued a final 
determination on our FOIA request.  The IHS has repeatedly violated the FOIA and its own 
regulations in the handling of our FOIA request.  The last written correspondence we received from 
your agency was dated July 22, 2015, which was characterized as a “second response” to our FOIA 
request.  The July 22, 2015 letter was not received until several days after that date.  Along with the 
letter, you released “additional records” and stated “although the requested information is exempt 
from disclosure under the FOIA, we are exercising our discretion to release the information.”  You 
did not indicate under which exemption the information was exempt from disclosure.  Nor did you 
indicate what information you were withholding.  You did not even provide the number of total 
responsive records identified and the number that are being withheld, as is required and customary.  
While you said that we had the right to appeal the decision denying us full access to the records, we 
are unable to do so without knowing what records are being withheld and why.  
 
 To date, therefore, we have not received a “determination” as required by 5 U.S.C. § 
552(a)(6)(A)(i) that would allow us to appeal. Since IHS has not made “determination” within the 
relevant statutory time period, our clients are entitled to file suit to compel compliance with the 
FOIA’s time limits. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C); 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B). However, our clients have not 
yet initiated litigation because they feel that a cooperative approach is best suited to resolving this 
situation.   
 

In an attempt to resolve this matter, after receiving the July 22, 2015 letter, we sent your 
agency a letter dated August 7, 2015 appealing your July 22, 2015 decision as if it were a legally 
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adequate “determination” and asking for additional information.  In that letter, we informed you 
that there are several documents that we requested that have not been provided to us. We also 
informed you that pursuant to FOIA and your FOIA regulations, you have a legal obligation to 
inform us of what documents you are denying us access to and what exemption justifies your denial 
of the documents. Otherwise it is impossible to appeal a decision when we don’t know what that 
decision is, let alone the basis for that decision. The D.C. Circuit has described the “Catch–22” that 
one agency sought “to jam into FOIA”: “A requester cannot appeal within the agency because the 
agency has not provided the necessary information. Yet the requester cannot go to court because the 
requester has not appealed within the agency.” Citizens for Responsibility & Ethics in Washington v. Fed. 
Election Comm'n, 711 F.3d 180, 186-87 (D.C. Cir. 2013). Here, IHS seems to be trying to put us in 
just this situation. The CREW Court cautioned: “Although the agency may desire to keep FOIA 
requests bottled up in limbo for months or years on end, the statute simply does not countenance 
such a system, as we read the statutory text.” Id. 
 

In the August 7 letter, we asked you to provide us with information about what documents 
we are being denied access to and why so that we can pursue an appeal if appropriate.  That was 
never done.  Instead, we received one telephone call from Janet Ingersoll on August 17, 2015 who 
was not able to provide us with any information about our FOIA request, let alone the reasons why 
we were denied full access to the records requested.  Ms. Ingersoll told me that she would refer the 
matter to an IHS attorney who would call me back with additional information about our FOIA 
request and the agency’s reasons for their partial denial.  That never happened.  Had we known that 
we would receive no further information from IHS, we would have filed this second administrative 
appeal sooner, but we relied upon the statement of Ms. Ingersoll that we would be provided 
additional information about the agency’s response to our FOIA request. 

 
So we have come to the point where we are forced to file yet another administrative appeal 

of your decision, even though you have still not told us what your decision is or the basis for your 
decision denying us access to the records.  But, because you have refused to provide us the 
requested records, we interpret that as a constructive denial of our request.  Since you have not 
provided any basis for your constructive denial of our request, we are in the difficult position of 
being forced to surmise as to the reason you are withholding the records.  That in and of itself is a 
violation of the FOIA. 

 
In earlier correspondence you referenced the deliberative process exemption (June 15, 2015 

letter), but there is no indication what records, if any, would fall under this exemption. And this 
exemption clearly does not apply to this request.  The “deliberative process” exemption (Exemption 
5) applies to “inter-agency or intra-agency memorandums or letters which would not be available by 
law to a party other than an agency in litigation with the agency.” 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(5). Courts have 
upheld a distinction between “materials reflecting deliberative or policy-making process on the one 
hand,” which are protected by Exemption 5, and “purely factual, investigative matters on the other,” 
which are not. EPA v. Mink, 410 U.S. 73, 89 (1973). Here, we are asking for factual, investigative 
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materials related to a nitrate contamination study; these materials should not fall under Exemption 5.  
In addition, some of these documents are from the Yakama Nation, not IHS, so it is hard to fathom 
how they could possibly fall under Exemption 5.  The documents we are seeking do not ask for the 
“mental processes of decisionmakers.”  National Wildlife Federation v. U.S. Forest Service, 861 F.2d 1114, 
1119 (9th Cir. 1988); Assembly of the State of California v. U.S. Dept. of Comm., 968 F.2d. 916, 921 (9th 
Cir. 1992). We are asking for the underlying scientific data that we know was collected based upon 
other IHS records we have seen.  

 
IHS’s own FOIA regulations provide that the deliberative process privilege only protects 

“predecisional deliberative communications,” and specifically does not apply to “purely factual 
material,” even if that material appears in a “deliberative document.” 45 C.F.R. § 5.66(a) (“We will 
release purely factual material in a deliberative document unless that material is otherwise exempt.”) 
First, to our knowledge, there is no “decision” associated with the requested records, which are 
studies and data. Second, even if there was such a “decision,” the studies and data underlying that 
decision stand on their own and very likely can be reasonably segregated from any deliberative 
documents. Id. (“Purely factual material in a deliberative document is within this privilege only if it is 
inextricably intertwined with the deliberative portions so that it cannot reasonably be segregated, if it 
would reveal the nature of the deliberative portions, or if its disclosure would in some other way 
make possible an intrusion into the decisionmaking process.”)  The deliberative process privilege 
cannot be used to justify your constructive denial of our FOIA request. 

 
In the June 15, 2015 letter, you also stated “any information that would be an invasion of the 

personal privacy of others (names, addresses) is also being removed.”  We do not dispute the need 
to redact personal names and addresses, but this exemption cannot possibly be used to justify the 
wholesale denial of our FOIA request. 

 
Even if the documents qualify for exemptions, IHS has a duty to narrowly tailor its use of 

FOIA exemptions and provide partial or redacted versions of the responsive documents. As 
Attorney General Eric Holder reminded agencies in his Memorandum on the Freedom of 
Information Act: 

 
Whenever an agency determines that it cannot make full disclosure of a requested record, it 
must consider whether it can make partial disclosure. Agencies should always be mindful 
that the FOIA requires them to take reasonable steps to segregate and release nonexempt 
information. Even if some parts of the record must be withheld, other parts either may not 
be covered by a statutory exemption, or may be covered only in a technical sense unrelated 
to the actual impact of disclosure. 

 
Eric Holder, Memorandum for Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies on the Freedom of Information Act, 
March 19, 2009, available at http://www.justice.gov/ag/foia-memo-march2009.pdf. 
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 If we are denied documents or redacted copies of documents, we would like to receive an 
index describing the withheld documents. So that we can confirm that the documents are actually 
being withheld pursuant to Exemption 5 or 6, the IHS must state what the documents are. This is a 
fairly simple process that the court can order using the Vaughn index rule in litigation. However, in 
order to save resources for all parties and the court, we are asking for a Vaughn index now in an 
attempt to avoid subsequent litigation if possible. 
 
 The IHS’s constructive denial of our FOIA request, which appears to have occurred on a 
date unknown, violates the FOIA and IHS’ implementing regulations.  In addition, the agency’s 
failure to comply with the FOIA time limits, without any justification for doing so, is another legal 
violation.  We have still never received a substantive response to our August 7 appeal, now nearly a 
month later, even though your FOIA officer promised us additional information.  Please let me 
know if you have any questions and we look forward to your response. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
s/ Andrea K. Rodgers 
 
Andrea K. Rodgers  
On Behalf of CCYR & FOTC 
Western Environmental Law Center 
3026 NW Esplanade 
Seattle, WA 98117 
T: (206) 696-2851 
Email: rodgers@westernlaw.org 
 
cc:  
 
Clients 
 
Shirina Grimaldi 
Indian Health Service 
Area FOIA Coordinator 
T: (503) 414-7747 
Email: shirina.grimaldi@ihs.gov 
 
Janet Ingersoll, HIS 
Freedom of Information Officer 
Division of Regulator & Legal Affairs, OMS 
801 Thompson Ave. (TMP 450) 
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Rockville, MD 20852 
 
Carl G. Mitchell 
Acting Director 
Division of Regulatory Affairs & Acting FOIA Officer 
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